## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## ESTATE OF WILLIAM A. GIRALDIN, DECEASED

TIMOTHY GIRALDIN, TRUSTEE TO THE WILLIAM A. GIRALDIN TRUST DATED FEBRUARY 11, 2002, AND PATRICK GIRALDIN,

Defendants and Appellants

VS.

CHRISTINE GIRALDIN, PATRICIA GRAY, AND MICHAEL GIRALDIN,

Plaintiffs and Respondents

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 2 1 2012

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Case No. G041811

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

FREEMAN, FREEMAN & SMILEY, LLP
Stephen M. Lowe, Esq., SBN 45534
Jared A. Barry, Esq., SBN 221988
1888 Century Park East, Suite 1900
Los Angeles, California 90067

#### I. ISSUE PRESENTED

When a settlor of a revocable inter vivos trust appoints, during his lifetime, someone other than himself to act as trustee, once the settlor dies and the trust becomes irrevocable, do the remainder beneficiaries have standing to petition the court for relief from breaches of fiduciary duty committed by the trustee during the period of revocability?

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This action concerns a trustee who committed numerous and large scale breaches of trust after he gained control of the assets of the settlor, his father, who had lost the ability to manage his own assets. The breaches were generally of two types. The first was purported gifts, loans and disbursements which were either not accounted for or were purportedly done pursuant to the verbal directions of the settlor. Essentially, the trustee's defense to these omissions was that he never bothered to read the trust and he simply did whatever his father told him to do. The second category was that the trustee channeled four million dollars of his father's estate into the trustee's startup company, all of which were lost. The trustee's primary defense was that he was not liable for this breach because his father had directed him to make this investment. Petitioners, three of the settlor's children<sup>1</sup>, established at trial that both the trust and the California Probate Code (hereafter, "Probate Code" or "P.C.") required that the purported directions relied upon by the trustee had to be in writing and proved that the documents offered by the trustee were not understood by the settlor as written directions both because of the nature of the purported

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A fourth child, Philip Giraldin joined in the efforts of Petitioners but died while the appeal was pending.

directions and the father's diminished capacity. The trial court surcharged the trustee \$5,051,663.00 for these breaches.

The Court of Appeal's opinion (the "Opinion") deprives the children, who were the remainder beneficiaries of the trust, of their right to remedy the breaches of trust made by the trustee because the breaches occurred while the trust was still revocable. The Opinion ignores the protections set forth in the Probate Code and previous case law to ensure that a non-settlor trustee complies with the trust, the Probate Code and the wishes of the settlor. By denying remainder beneficiaries the right to enforce the provisions of the Probate Code, the Opinion renders these protections meaningless. Without meaningful enforcement, elders will be at greater risk from financial abuse and their desire to transfer wealth according to their estate plans can be thwarted. The Opinion makes it impossible for the beneficiaries of the Trust to recover for the loss of their intended legacy.

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

William Giraldin ("Bill") and Mary Frohm ("Mary") were married in 1959. (Reporter's Transcript ("RT"), Vol. II, 235:12 – 236:10; Respondent's Appendix of Trial Exhibits ("RA"), pp. 15 – 17 (Trial Exhibit ("TE") 159.) Bill had four children from a prior marriage, Jim, Patricia, Christine and Thomas, and Mary had three, Philip, Michael and Claudia. (*Id.*) In 1964, Bill and Mary had twin sons, Tim and Patrick. (*Id.*) The four original Petitioners were Patricia, Christine, Philip and Michael. (Appellant Timothy Giraldin's Appendix in Lieu of Clerk's Transcript ("AA"), Volume ("Vol.") I, Exhibits ("Ex.") 1, 10.) The original Respondents were Tim and Patrick. (*Id.* at Ex. 10.)

In his career, Bill founded a savings and loan association, which was ultimately acquired by Washington Mutual, resulting in Bill's acquisition of

millions of dollars in Washington Mutual stock. (RT, Vol. I, 124:23 – 26, Vol. II, 284:26 – 285:11; Vol. VIII, 1441:7 – 9.) Bill had always managed and controlled his and his family's financial affairs. (RT, Vol. I, 119:5 – 20; Vol. II, 237:10 – 25, Vol. III, 540:8 – 546:1; Vol. VI, 964:20 – 965:24, Vol. VIII, 1351:22 – 26.)

Bill executed the William A. Giraldin Trust which was originally executed by Bill as trustor and trustee on February 25, 1997, and amended four times ("the Initial Trust"). (Appellant Timothy Giraldin's Supplemental Appendix of Trial Exhibits ("ASA"), pp. 4 – 23, TE 27, pp. 24 – 26, TE 45, RA, pp. 7 – 8, TE 30, pp. 9 – 10, TE 31, pp. 11 – 12, TE 35.) The Initial Trust and amendments were all prepared by Bill's long time estate planning attorney, Scott Richmond, Esq. ("Richmond"). (RT, Vol. III, 609:5 – 610:12, 618:13 – 19, 619:24 – 623:24, 627:45 – 630:2.)

Only two months after the fourth amendment was executed, Tim referred Bill to a new estate planning attorney, James Mellor, Esq. ("Mellor"), in October 2001, for whom Tim's wife had previously worked. (RT, Vol. I, 105:26 – 106:5, 21 – 24, Vol. IV, 682:10 – 17, 21 – 25.) Tim arranged for and attended meetings between Mellor, Bill and him to create a new trust which named Tim as Trustee. (RT, Vol. I, 106:3 – 5, 112:2 – 9; 126:2 – 7, Vol. IV, 697:12 – 698:13, 703:12 – 704:21, 710:15 – 713:14.)

On February 11, 2002, Bill executed an entirely new trust instrument (the "Trust"), prepared by Mellor, in place of the Initial Trust and amendments. (ASA, Vol. I, pp. 95 – 146, TE 67.) Tim signed the Trust as the sole Trustee. (*Id.*) The Trust departs from Bill's earlier estate plan by immediately appointing Tim as the sole Trustee, whereas Bill was the trustee of the Initial Trust (and amendments) followed by four of his children as successor co-trustees. (ASA, Vol. I, pp. 4 - 26, TE 27 & 45, RA, pp. 7 - 8, TE 30, compared with ASA, Vol. I, pp. 95 - 146, TE 67.)

Bill was the sole beneficiary of the Trust during his lifetime and entitled to net income and principal of the entire Trust in his or the Trustee's discretion. (ASA, Vol. I, pp. 100 – 101, TE 67 (Article 3, § 3.1).) During Bill's lifetime, he retained the rights to: add or remove property from the Trust; amend or revoke the Trust; appoint or remove a trustee; and direct and approve the Trustee's actions, including investment decisions. (*Id.* at pp. 99 – 100 (Article 2, § 2.1 – 2.7).) However, these rights could only be exercised by a *signed writing by Bill delivered to the Trustee*. (*Id.* at p. 100 (Article 2, § 2.8).) After Bill's death, the remaining corpus was available for use by his surviving spouse, Mary, and then to be divided equally among all his children. *Id.* at pp. 101 – 103 (Article 4).) Only after Bill's death did Petitioners learn of the existence of the Trust, even though several of his children had been aware of, and named as successor trustees, in the Initial Trust. (RT, Vol. III, 552:19 – 553:8, 566:26 – 567:23, Vol. VI, 976:6 – 8, 1030:19 – 1031:8, 1119:21 – 25.)

Immediately prior to Tim becoming Trustee, the Trust owned approximately \$3.4 million of Washington Mutual common stock which constituted about 50% of the Trust corpus, with the remainder of the corpus in diversified investments such as energy stocks, government securities, and real estate limited partnerships, and approximately \$1 million in real estate, including his residence and a cabin in Fresno County, California. (RT, Vol. I, 124:23 – 26, ASA, Vol. II, pp. 304 – 307.)

SafeTzone Technology Corporation ("SafeTzone") was a start-up company partially owned and formerly controlled by Tim and Patrick. (RT, Vol. I, 79:10 – 80:24, 85:8 – 14, 158:15 – 166:3.) Immediately after Tim became trustee in February 2002, he began the process of liquidating nearly all of the Trust's securities and investing over four million dollars in SafeTzone over a period of less than one and a half years. (RT, Vol. I, 121:10 – 18, 140:7 – 14, ASA, pp. 319 – 321, 324 – 329, 332 – 333, 344.)

The Trust's dependable, diversified investments, built up by Bill over many decades, were traded for an investment in a risky start-up venture, SafeTzone, that had only one other financial investor at the time and had lost millions of dollars since its inception. (RT, Vol. I, 87:21 – 92:25, 92:24 – 95:6.)

On May 23, 2008, Tim delinquently filed a verified First Account Current (the "Accounting"). (RT, Vol. I, 166:8 – 167:25, ASA, Vol. II, pp. 245 – 348.) In the Accounting it was disclosed that as of December 31, 2007, the SafeTzone investment was essentially worthless. (RT, Vol. I, pp. 160:16 – 170:1, ASA, Vol. II, p. 348.)

The Accounting also disclosed numerous disbursements or loans to Tim and select family members for which Tim had no explanation or backup. (RT, at Vol. I, 177:13 – 179:11, 181:2 – 191:3, Vol. II, 216:13 – 225:5, 226:7 – 228:20, Vol. VII, 1162:9 – 1167:15, ASA, Vol. II, pp. 322 – 323, 330 – 331, 345 – 346.) One disbursement was made in violation of a restraining order. (RT, Vol. II, 209:8 – 216:12.) None of the loans was memorialized in writing and no terms of the purported loans are disclosed by the Accounting. (RT, Vol. II, 225:6 – 228:20, ASA, Vol. II, pp. 245 – 348.) Tim stated in his testimony that all of these loans were made pursuant to oral instructions from Bill and that they were forgiven according to the terms of the Trust. (RT, Vol. II, 420:15 – 20, 423:13 – 430:5.)

Finally, the Accounting shows a total of \$4,050,000 invested in SafeTzone by the 2002 Trust between February 28, 2002 and May 6, 2003. (ASA, Vol. II, p. 344.) A portion of the money received by SafeTzone from the Trust (\$50,000) on the same day of the Trust's initial investment is characterized as a "loan," rather than an investment. (ASA, Vol. II, p. 333.) There is no writing, however to substantiate the purported loan, there are no terms of the loan, and the Trust did not receive any SafeTzone stock or

other consideration for the \$50,000 given to SafeTzone. (RT, Vol. II, pp. 225:6 – 226:6.) The only possible conclusion is that the purported, \$50,000 "loan" is not a loan at all, but a thinly disguised gift to SafeTzone, which is tainted by Tim's ownership and control of SafeTzone at the time the gift was made.

#### IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

# A. Petitioners Filed A Petition and Amended Petition Seeking An Accounting and A Surcharge Against Tim.

Petitioners learned through an informal accounting of the Trust provided by Tim in response to their demand about the Trust's four-million-dollar investment in SafeTzone and that substantial loans had been made by the Trust to Tim, Patrick and Thomas. (AA, Vol. I, Ex. 1, pp. 89 – 105.) On December 1, 2006 Petitioners filed their Petition against Tim, in his capacity as trustee, for: 1) Removal of Trustee; 2) Suspension of Powers; 3) Appointment of Successor Trustee; 4) Compel Trustee to Report and Account; and 5) Attorneys' Fees (the "Petition"). (AA, Vol. I, Ex. 1.) Petitioners alleged that Tim had breached various fiduciary duties by investing a majority of the Trust estate in SafeTzone and asked that Tim be required to provide an accounting of the Trust and SafeTzone during the period that Tim was trustee.

Petitioners also filed a Motion for a Preliminary Injunction to restrain Tim from making any distributions from the Trust or otherwise disposing of any Trust assets. On January 18, 2007, the court ordered that Tim was prohibited from distributing any Trust property, with the exception of \$1,200.00 per month to Mary for her living expenses. No other distributions were permitted unless Petitioners consented in writing or upon further order by the court. (RT, Vol. II, 208:26 – 216:12, AA, Ex. 11, 294 – 295.)

On or about January 16, 2007, Tim filed his response to the Petition. In his response, Tim claimed that Bill directed and approved Tim's investment of Trust

money in SafeTzone and the loans to Tim and other beneficiaries of the Trust. Tim further alleged that the Petition violated the no contest provision of the Trust and requested the court to determine Mary's community property rights to Trust property. (AA, Ex. 6.)

On January 8, 2008, Petitioners filed an Amended Petition. The Amended Petition is similar to the Petition, but also requested orders that Tim be surcharged for the Trust's substantial loss of value resulting from his breaches of fiduciary duty. (AA, Ex. 10.)

In addition, the Amended Petition named Patrick as a respondent for conspiring with Tim to receive undue and improper benefits from the Trust vis-à-vis his ownership and control of SafeTzone, and through loans from the Trust, and requested that property received by Patrick from the Trust be returned to the Trust. (*Id.*)

## B. Tim Was Ordered To File An Accounting Beginning from the Inception of the Trust To Which Petitioners Filed Objections.

On February 4, 2008, the court ordered, pursuant to the parties' stipulation, that Tim file an accounting of the Trust on or before April 11, 2008, covering the period from February 11, 2002 to December 31, 2007. Tim violated the Order by failing to file the Accounting timely. It was eventually filed and served on May 23, 2008 without any explanation for its tardiness. (RT, 166:17 – 167:25, ASA, Vol. II, pp. 245 – 348.)

On August 4, 2008, Petitioners filed their Objections to the Accounting. Petitioners objected to a number of entries in the Accounting and requested a surcharge against Tim for losses and unexplained disbursements by the Trust. The Objections further alleged that the Accounting was inconsistent with Tim's informal accounting provided before the litigation and his deposition testimony. (AA, Vol. I, Ex. 11.)

The Objections requested various surcharges against Tim for the investment in SafeTzone, the unsupported disbursements and loans to Tim, Patrick and their brother, Thomas, a payment to Mary in violation of the restraining order and other unexplained or inaccurate reporting. (*Id.*)

# C. The Trial Court Concluded That Tim Had Breached His Fiduciary Duties and Rejected His Defenses to Liability.

Trial on Petitioners' Amended Petition and Objections to the Accounting occurred in October and November of 2008 before the Honorable David R. Chaffee of the Orange County Superior Court.<sup>2</sup> (RT, Vol. I – Vol. IX.) Tim contended that all of the Trust's transactions, including the SafeTzone investment and the loans to family members, were approved by Bill before he died, and that all of the loans were forgiven under the terms of the Trust. (RT, Vol. II, 339:11 – 341:23.) He testified that the loans were made pursuant to oral instructions from Bill. (RT, Vol. II, 420:15 – 20, 423:13 – 430:5.) He further testified that, though he signed the Trust as Trustee, he never read the Trust and was not familiar with its provisions, even though his attorney, Mellor, had told him to read the Trust. (RT, Vol. I, 74:13 – 25, Vol. II, 281:3 – 282:23, Vol. III, 512:22 – 513:14, Vol. V, 914:18 – 916:23.) Tim could not even identify the beneficiaries of the Trust. (RT, Vol. II, 153:3 – 8.) Tim testified that he believed that his only responsibility was to follow Bill's instructions concerning what to do with the Trust assets. (RT, Vol. II, 282:2 – 7.)

Tim also proffered documents that he contended were written instructions by Bill, as required by the Trust, to make the investment in SafeTzone. One of the documents was a "Gift Acknowledgment Form" (the "Gift Form") dated the same day that the Trust was created. (RT, 143:4 – 148:13, ASA, Vol. I, pp. 37 - 38.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court also heard Mary's Spousal Property Petition and Petitioners' Objections thereto. The trial court's ruling on Mary's petition is not addressed herein.

The Gift Form, however, is a misleading document and does not, by its terms, authorize the investment in SafeTzone. Tim testified that the purpose of the Gift Form, which he drafted, was to memorialize a gift to his brother, Thomas (which, notably, is specifically characterized as a "loan" in the Accounting). (Id., ASA, Vol. II, p. 345.) Tucked in at the end of the document is a paragraph which states, "[a]dditionally, after the trust has been set up William A. Giraldin and Timothy W. Giraldin will begin the process of selling stock and converting assets to fulfill the investment into SafeTzone . . . of \$4 million." The first three paragraphs of the document relate solely to a gift of \$150,000 to Thomas. The Gift Form was apparently executed before the Trust was created because it refers to a time "after the trust has been set up" and does not specifically direct Tim to invest four million dollars in SafeTzone. Two other documents were purportedly executed by Bill after Tim was appointed trustee and had control of Bill's assets - a Summary of Proposed Investment Terms dated February 15, 2002 and a Stock Purchase Agreement dated April of 2002. (ASA, Vol. I, pp. 43 – 45, 62 – 94.) Neither of these documents even purported to be instructions to Tim, as trustee, to make the investment in SafeTzone.

Both sides presented medical experts, who agreed that Bill was suffering from progressive dementia in 2002. They opined that, at the time the Trust was executed and Bill signed documents related to the investment in SafeTzone, Bill had mild to moderate dementia. Both provided testimony suggesting that it was unlikely Bill would have understood the risks and benefits of entering to the SafeTzone transaction.<sup>3</sup> (RT, Vol. III, 457:8 – 490:15, Vol. V, 776:8 – 807:12.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioners' expert, Dr. Stephen Read, and the trial court reviewed home videos from 2001 – 2003 produced by Tim and Patrick, which supported their conclusions that Bill had diminished capacity during that time periods. (RA, Ex. pp. 18 – 20 (enclosed DVD); RT, Vol. V, 800:13 – 802:2, Vol. IX, 1695:6 – 1696:11.)

Tim's testimony at trial demonstrated his lack of responsibility in properly administering the Trust. He could not explain numerous disbursements from the Trust, failed to provide, or in some cases even look for, backup documentation to support disbursements, and admittedly comingled his personal funds with trust funds. (See, e.g., RT, Vol. I, 178:20 – 179:11, 185:16 – 186:24, 189:2 – 191:3, Vol. II, 201:2 – 207:4, Vol. III, 508:8 – 10.)

Tim testified that a July 7, 2003 reimbursement to himself for \$20,000 from the Trust was for repairs and interior renovations to the Hume Lake cabin, which included the purchase of new beds for the cabin and fixing the roof. (RT, Vol. I, 177:13 – 179:11.) No invoices, receipts or other documentation was included in the Accounting that support this disbursement and the amount of the purported reimbursement appears excessive on its face. (ASA, Vol. II, p. 322.) Tim testified at trial that he could not find back-up documentation and that he never attempted to obtain credit card bills that may support his right to reimbursement. (RT, Vol. I, 177:13 – 179:11.)

In March 2004, Patrick received \$17,500 for unspecified expenses.

(ASA, Vol. II, p. 323.) Tim testified that, in fact, this money went to Mary, not Patrick, and that his verified Accounting was in error. (RT, Vol. I, 181:2 – 185:7.) Tim could not explain the purpose of this disbursement. (*Id.*)

Additionally, in December 2004, a \$30,000 disbursement was made to Tim for "medical expenses for William Giraldin, i.e., hospital bed, medications, transportation." (ASA, Vol. II, p. 323.) Again, Tim failed to provide any invoices, receipts or other documentation that support this disbursement. (RT, Vol. I, 185:8 – 191:3.)

In January 2007, a restraining order was issued against Tim, as trustee, permitting him to distribute a maximum of \$1,200 per month to Mary from the Trust. Yet, the Accounting disclosed two (2) distributions to Mary above the

\$1,200 monthly stipend after the restraining order was issued. On December 7, 2007, Tim distributed an additional \$9,341.97 to Mary. (RT, Vol. II, 209:8 – 216:12, ASA, Vol. II, p. 331.) At trial, Tim testified that the money was used to "re-do" an outside deck at Mary's Residence and that he has no backup documentation to support this expenditure. (RT, Vol. II, 212:4 – 216:12.) Tim did not even attempt to obtain the consent of the beneficiaries to distribute additional Trust funds to Mary to improve the Residence as required by the restraining order, and Petitioners were not made aware of this additional distribution until the Accounting was provided. (*Id.*)

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