#### SUPREME COURT DOCKET NO. <u>\$197694</u>

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TIMOTHY GIRALDIN, TRUSTEE TO THE WILLIAM A. GIRALDIN TRUST DATED FEBRUARY 11, 2002, AND PATRICK GIRALDIN,

Defendants and Appellants,

VS.

CHRISTINE GIRALDIN, PATRICIA GRAY, AND MICHAEL
GIRLADIN, SUPREME COURT

Plaintiffs and Respondents.

MAR 23 2012

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAR, Chinch Clork
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE Deputy
CASE NO. G041811

#### **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

BIDNA & KEYS, APLC
Richard D. Keys (SBN: 105901)
Howard M. Bidna (SBN: 81604)
Jon A. Longerbone (SBN: 90570)
5120 Campus Drive
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Rkeys@bidnakeys.com

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

#### IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standing Requires That the Plaintiff Be Vested with a Right to Relief in Court.

The *Opinion* (page 18) succinctly summarizes the definition of "standing" as follows:

"Standing to sue . . . is the right to relief in court." (Color-Vue, Inc. v. Abrams (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1599, 1604, quoting Friendly Village Community Assn., Inc. v. Silva & Hill Constr. Co. (1973) 31 Cal.App.3d 220, 224). And the right to seek relief for breach of duty belongs to the person to whom, the duty was owed. (Vega v. Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 282, 297; Nelson v. Anderson (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 111, 124-125 [minority shareholder lacked standing to bring claim in individual capacity for breach of duty owed to corporation].)

# B. A Trustee of an Inter Vivos Trust Owes No Duty to Remainder Beneficiaries - Period

As this Court and the Courts of Appeal have consistently held, while the settlor of an inter vivos trust is alive, the settlor and the trust are effectively one and the same, and any property (real, personal or intangible) held in the trust belongs to the settlor and the settlor has unfettered power to dispose of such property as he or she deems appropriate. Steinhart v. County of Los Angeles (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1298, 1319 ["property transferred to, or held in, a revocable inter vivos trust is deemed the property of the settlor...."]; Johnson v. Kotyck (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 83 Remainder beneficiaries have no vested rights whatsoever in the corpus of the trust - and absolutely no say in what the settlor does with the corpus.

In *Steinhart*, this Court, in holding that a transfer of real property to a revocable trust is not a present transfer of real property, went on to state as follows:

Moreover, "[p]roperty transferred to, or held in, a *revocable* inter vivos trust is deemed the property of the settlor...." ( *Zanelli v. McGrath* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 615, 633, 82 Cal.Rptr.3d 835, italics added; see also *Arluk Medical Center Industrial Group, Inc. v. Dobler* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1324, 1331–1332, 11 Cal.Rptr.3d 194 ["a settlor with the power to revoke a living trust effectively retains full ownership and control over any property transferred to the trust"].) Any interest that beneficiaries of a revocable trust have in trust property is "merely potential" and can "evaporate in a moment at the whim of the [settlor]."

Johnson v. Kotyck (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 83, 88 explains the nature of a beneficiary's rights in a revocable trust as follows:

So long as a trust is revocable, a beneficiary's rights are merely potential, rather than vested. The beneficiary's interest could evaporate in a moment at the whim of the trustor or, in the case of a conservatorship, at the discretion of the court. Giving a beneficiary with a contingent, nonvested interest all the rights of a vested beneficiary is untenable. We cannot confer on the contingent beneficiary rights that are illusory, which the beneficiary only *hopes* to have upon the death of the trustor, but only if the trust has not been previously revoked and the beneficiary has outlived the trustor.

Because the settlor owns all of the property in the trust, and the beneficiaries have no rights whatsoever, it logically follows that a third party trustee therefore owes duties exclusively to the settlor. The specific provisions of the Probate Code expressly state that the trustee's duty is solely and exclusively owed to the settlor.

Probate Code § 15800(a) provides that with respect to a revocable trust, while the person holding the power to revoke is alive, such person, "and not

the beneficiary, has the rights afforded beneficiaries under [Division 9 of the Probate Code - Trust Law - Probate Code §§ 15000 - 19403]."

Probate Code § 15800(b) provides that with respect to a revocable trust, "The duties of the trustee are owed to the person holding the power to revoke."

In this case, the person holding the power to revoke the Trust was Bill, and only Bill. Probate Code § 15800 is clear and unequivocal. Any duties that Tim owed as trustee while Bill was alive were owed *exclusively* to Bill. Thus, Tim owed no duties whatsoever to Petitioners during the period between the creation of the Trust and Bill's death.

Petitioners' arguments that there is "some ambiguity" in Section 15800 and/or that Section 15800 is somehow inconsistent with Probate Code § 15801 are simply not valid. Section 15801 provides:

- (a) In any case where the consent of a beneficiary may be given or is required to be given before an action may be taken, during the time that a trust is revocable and the person holding the power to revoke the trust is competent, the person holding the power to revoke, and not the beneficiary, has the power to consent or withhold consent.
- (b) This section does not apply where the joint consent of the settlor and all beneficiaries is required by statute.

Section 15801 is entirely consistent with Section 15800. Because a trustee of a revocable trust owes no duty to a remainderman (or beneficiary) other than the settlor, it follows that if consent to any act by the trustee is necessary, then only the consent of the settlor is necessary. If the remainderman has no rights, and is owed no duty, there is no reason for the

trustee to seek the consent of a remainderman. Moreover, requiring a trustee to seek consent from a remainderman before following the settlor's instructions would create an untenable conflict.

Petitioners are correct that if a trustee needs consent of the settlor, but acts without it, the trustee may be liable "to someone." However, as discussed below, "the someone" to whom the trustee may be liable is solely and exclusively the settlor - the only person to whom the trustee owes a duty to obtain consent.

# C. The Probate Code Expressly Provides That the Trustee of an Inter Vivos Trust Has No Duty to "Account" to Any Remainder Beneficiary for the Period the Trust Was Revocable

The right of a trust beneficiary to an accounting is based on the provisions of Division 9, Article 3 of the Probate Code (Sections 16060 - 16064). In the case of a revocable trust, Probate Code § 15800(a) provides that while a trust is revocable, *only* the person holding the power to revoke is entitled to an accounting. That section expressly provides that a "beneficiary" who does not hold the power to revoke does not have *any* rights afforded to beneficiaries under Division 9 of the Probate Code. *Johnson v. Kotyck* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 83 holds the right to an accounting of a revocable trust belongs exclusively to the person holding the power to revoke, and that a remainderman/beneficiary, such as Petitioners, have no right to an accounting, even following the appointment of a conservator for the settlor.

Former Probate Code § 16064(b),<sup>2</sup> applicable to the present case, provided in applicable part as follows:

The trustee is not required to report information or account to a beneficiary in any of the following circumstances:

(b) In the case of a beneficiary of a revocable trust, as provided in Section 15800, for the period when the trust may be revoked.

The italicized portion of former Section 16064(b) quoted above was added by the 1992 amendments to the Probate Code. 1992 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 871 (A.B. 2975) (WEST). The addition makes clear that the exception to the trustee's duty to account is *for* the period during which the trust is revocable, not *while* the trust is revocable.

Thus, the Probate Code expressly provides that Tim cannot be required to account to Petitioners *for* any period prior to Bill's death.

Petitioners cite Evangelho v. Presoto (1998) 67 Cal. App. 4th 615 for the proposition that Tim owed a duty to Petitioners and/or that Petitioners, as beneficiaries of the Trust, could compel Tim to account for the Trust during Bill's lifetime. As the Opinion points out (page 20), to the extent Evangelho actually supports such positions, Evangelho is simply wrong. Evangelho is inconsistent with the terms of the Probate Code and case law, including this Court's opinion in Steinhart v. County of Los Angeles (2010) 47 Cal. 4th 1298 and the Court of Appeal's 1999 decision in Johnson v. Kotyck (1999) 76

Probate Code § 16064 was amended effective January 1, 2011. The former provisions of section 16064(b) were reenacted as Probate Code § 16069 without change.

Cal.App.4th 83 (which was decided after *Evangelho*, but did not mention *Evangelho*).

In Evangelho, the residuary beneficiaries of a revocable trust, following the death of the settlor, obtained an order compelling the trustee to provide an accounting of a specific bank account, that was outside the trust, on which the trustee and the settlor were named as the joint account holders. The specific holding of Evangelho is that the trial court had the authority to order the trustee to provide an accounting for the bank account. There was no damages award or surcharge of the trustee rendered in the trial court - and obviously such issue was not part of the appeal. The Court of Appeal itself noted that to the extent the trial court's order merely required the trustee to provide an accounting of the trust, such order was not appealable, as a matter of law. 67 Cal.App.4th at 622, citing to Probate Code § 1304 (which provides that an order compelling an accounting of a trust is not appealable). Thus, the only part of the order that was appealable, and thus the limited scope of the appeal, was whether the trial court could properly require the "trustee" to account for the funds held in the joint bank account outside the trust. To the extent Evangelho stands for the proposition that under the particular facts of the case a person who was a trustee of the settlor's revocable trust and also was a coaccount holder on a bank account outside the trust could be required to render an accounting of such bank account, such holding is not based on trust law, and has nothing to do with the instant case.

To the extent that *Evangelho* suggests that even though a beneficiary or remainderman has no rights in property held in a revocable trust and is owed

no duty by the trustee so long as the trust is revocable, upon the trust becoming irrevocable, the trustee somehow *retroactively* owed a duty to the beneficiary such idea is simply illogical. If a trustee did not owe a duty to the beneficiary while the settlor was alive (and indeed owed a duty exclusively to the settlor during such time), the death of the settlor cannot change that. The settlor's death certainly cannot after the fact impose on the trustee a duty that he or she never assumed or owed.

To the extent that Evangelho holds that once the settlor dies and a trust becomes irrevocable the beneficiaries can require the trustee to account for periods when the trust was revocable, such holding is clearly in conflict with the precise wording of former Probate Code § 16064(b). Former section 16064(b) says that the trustee of a revocable trust has no duty to account to a beneficiary or remainderman for any period when the trust is revocable (i.e. for any period when the beneficiary had no rights in the trust or its corpus). Section 16064(b) states that the trustee may not be required to account to a contingent beneficiary for any period when the trust may be revoked regardless of when the accounting is requested. Evangelho reads Section 16064 to state that "during the time the trust may be revoked, the trustee is not required to account to a beneficiary." 67 Cal.App.4th at 623-624. statement is simply inconsistent with the precise wording of Section 16064(b) the trustee need not account to the beneficiary for the period during which the trust may be revoked. Section 16064(b) does not limit the prohibition for a contingent beneficiary to obtain an accounting to only the time period during which the trust is revocable. Rather, the section explicitly says that a trustee is not required to account to such a beneficiary for any time when the beneficiary has no vested right. Such a provision is entirely consistent with

Section 15800(b) that expressly provides that a trustee owes *no duty* to a contingent beneficiary of a revocable trust - if a trustee owes *no duty* to a beneficiary, the trustee cannot be required to account to the beneficiary for a period of time when the trustee owed *no duty*.

Moreover, the "spin" *Evangelho* puts on section 16064 is simply inconsistent with the language of the section and its purpose. The reason a trustee has no duty to account to a beneficiary for any period when the beneficiary has no interest in the trust or its corpus is obvious - the trust corpus belongs to the settlor - and exclusively the settlor - and only the settlor has any rights in the corpus. Because the beneficiary has no rights in the corpus, the beneficiary has no right to an accounting for something in which the beneficiary has no interest.

Requiring a third party trustee to account to contingent beneficiaries for transactions that occurred at a time when such beneficiaries had no vested interest in the trust, and the trustee was duty bound to honor the whims of the settlor, would create an untenable conflict. If a third party trustee was required to look over his/her shoulder and take into consideration the possible objections of some future possible beneficiary, such a trustee might well be hesitant to follow the directions of the settlor, least the trustee find himself second guessed, and sued, after the settlor passed away. The repercussions of a holding by this Court that a contingent beneficiary has a right to second guess the trustee's fidelity to the settlor could have a significant effect on the entire professional trustee industry.

Finally, Evangelho's interpretation of Section 16064 does not distinguish between the settlor who acts as trustee and a third party who acts as trustee, and such failure to do so illustrates the fallacy of the reasoning of such opinion. How could it ever be that a settlor, such as Bill, would ever have any obligation to "account" to the trust beneficiaries he selected to receive a post death gift for anything that Bill decided to do with his money? Nevertheless, the inevitable, but illogical, extension of Evangelho is that a settlor could be required to account to his own beneficiaries for his own actions, or a new trustee who is appointed upon the settlor's death could be required to account for the settlor's own actions. Adopting the Petitioner's reading of Evangelho would also open up to challenge decisions that a settlor may have made to change his estate plan/trust perhaps to favor one beneficiary over another, or to disinherit a beneficiary.

As the *Opinion* (page 20) further points out, *Evangelho* was decided before *Johnson v. Kotyck* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 83 and *Steinhart v. County of Los Angeles* (2010). *Johnson* holds that the right to an accounting of a revocable trust belongs exclusively to the person holding the power to revoke, and that a beneficiary, such as Petitioners, have no right to an accounting, even following the appointment of a conservator for the settlor. *Steinhart* holds that property held in a revocable trust is deemed property of the settlor, and any interest the "beneficiaries" of such trust may have is "merely potential." Such holdings effectively reject the basic theory upon which Petitioners base their claims, which is that by virtue of their status as beneficiaries of a revocable trust they are "entitled" to have some say regarding the assets held in the trust.

Petitioners' argument (at page 29 of their brief) that Probate Code § 16420(b) would allow the Court to order a trustee to account for the period the trust was revocable "upon a showing that breaches of trust may have occurred" is misplaced and puts the cart before the horse. Because beneficiaries have no standing to complain about the trustee's actions while the trust was revocable, they have no right or ability to seek relief under Probate Code § 16420(b).

# D. The Express Terms of the Trust Provide That Tim Has No Duty to Account to Petitioners for Anything That Happened Prior to Bill's Death.

In addition to the clear pronouncements of the Probate Code, the concept that Tim is or was required to account to Petitioners for anything that transpired during Bill's lifetime is entirely inconsistent with, and contrary to, the express terms of the trust instrument (Trial Exhibit 67).

Paragraph 15.5 of the trust instrument (on page 17) provides as follows:

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